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Explanatory Notes

1
This is the first volume, titled Plaque Inscriptions from Korean Seowon, from the three-

volume picture catalog about traditional Korean Confucian academies of the Joscon era.

2
Resources included in the book are listed in the following order: name, year they were

produced and their dimensions in centimeters (length x width).

3

Academies are presented in the order they were founded.
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Korean Seowon’s

Document Heritage

and Their Memorial Rites

Inscription on the World Heritage List is basically intended for tangible cultural heritages. The same
criteria apply to the inscription of an educational heritage. Pertaining to this issue, Bénédicte Selfslagh,
secretary general of the International Council on Monuments and Sites 1COMOS), elaborated at the 2011
Seowon International Academic Conference that in evaluating World Heritage candidates, factors such
as types of buildings, outstanding architectural or technological features, and settings have routinely been
more emphasized. He further added that in the process of proving that a candidate site was of outstanding
universal value to humanity, a site's link to education was prominent, but more often, values other than their
educational value lead to the recognition of their outstanding universal value.

Bénédicte Selfslagh further elaborated on the conditions of Criterion(vi), which says a site must: "Be directly
or tangibly associated with events or living traditions, with ideas, or with beliefs, with artistic and literary
works of outstanding universal significance.” He also recommended that this criterion be used in conjunction
with all other criteria.

Based on his remarks, Korean seowon must be considered a special cultural heritage that has preserved and
passed on the authenticity and integrity of its buildings, a rich and diverse document heritage and intangible
memorial rites. Korean seowon functioned for centuries as the cornerstone of Korean intellectual culture,
supported by a long tradition of education, memorial rites and intellectual history. Therefore, their historic
records, documents and memorial rites have great significance. These three volumes of picture catalogs make

clear the value of Korean Seowon as an intangible heritage.

Volume 1 Plaque Inscriptions from Korean Seowon
Volume 2 Ancient Documents, Old Books and Printing Woodblocks of Korean Seowon

Volume 3 Memorial Rites of Korean Seowon

e hope these picture catalogs will inform the public and make it clear that Korea’s seowon culture has
We hope these pict talogs will inform the publ d mak lear that K

preserved a refined and rich tradition and possesses outstanding value as a part of Korea’s educational heritage.

November 2013

Association for Inscribing Korea's Seowon on World Heritage List
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'The Value of the Cultural Heritage

Embodied in Korean Seowon

Korea’s private Confucian academies, “seowon,” have more than 400 years of history. By fulfilling and
preserving their three major functions such as teaching through seminar-style lectures, encouraging
self-cultivation and honoring the scholarship of past sages through memorial rites, Korean seowon
greatly contributed to raising the standards of regional education, culture and intellectual history.
Indeed, at that time, Korean seowon were the most important Confucian educational institutions, as
well as the cornerstone of Korean intellectual culture.

Seowon not only offered memorial rites to noted Neo-Confucian scholars; they also provided a
venue for lectures and discussions, markedly different from the one-sided transmission of knowledge,
to raise young talented individuals who would guide Korea’s future. Korean seowon had different
educational and cultural characteristics according to where they were located and their academic
lineages. As centers of social activity for regional literati, seowon were not only places to gather, but
also an important venue for networking, building contacts and friendships. Seowon were also socially
instrumental because that is where the Confucian literati took and assessed public opinion polls.

Each seowon preserved and passed on its own distinctive style of memorial rites, ceremonies and
customary practices for centuries. Through their library and publishing functions, each seowon also
produced and preserved various cultural heritages and historical documents.

In this respect, seowon can be said to be a cultural heritage that integrated the individuality and variety
of Korean Confucian culture according to their regional connections and academic lineages. They are

also priceless treasuries of various tangible and intangible resources.

Established Main Sage nshrined

S Sosu 1543 1550 An Hyang
cowon )
Namgye Jeong Yeo-chang
Seowon 1552 1566 Bk E
SOksan 1573 1574 Yi Egn-!eonk
cowon FE
Dosan Yi Hwang
Seowon 1574 1575 Ft
Piram Kim In-hu
Soewon 1590 1662 Sy
. Sosu Seowon Dodong Kim Goeng-pil
Byeongsan Segv‘/dri @ @ Dosan Seowon Seowon 1605 1607 Eop]
Donam Sepwon o ® (Oksan Seowon Byeongsan Ryu Seong-nyong
T .;O,dung Sepwon Seowon 1613 1863 i
Museong Seowdn @ P
® N, S i-
Piram Seowon /- emave eoygp I\S/Iusmng 1615 1696 Cho?.gl?i won
eowon HHCE
Donam Kim Jang-saeng
Seowon 1634 1660 R

The Locations of Nine Academies
on the Inscription Application
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Plaques and

D (@) Cu m C n tS Kim Duk-Hyun Gyeongsang National University

Lee HaeJun Kongju National University

of KoreanSeowon

Kwon Jinho Korean Studies Advancement Center

Korean Confucian academies have preserved plaque inscriptions that reveal cultural content and the nature of
personal associations each seowon established during the Joseon era. Korean academies named their buildings by
condensing essential texts from scriptures written by sages or renowned scholars. These carefully composed names
were then inscribed on wooden plaques in calligraphy rendered by noted scholars.

In particular, plaques of state-recognized academies possessing official royal charters®#8EF%) were prized by these
seowon, and naturally were written by master calligraphers of the time. The content of these plaques was tailored
to the purpose and function of each academy. They not only expressed educational philosophy and ideals but
also encouraged student self-cultivation by citing passages from scriptures or the writings of sages. Thus, when
we understand the content of a plaque hung on a building, we can know the function and usage of the building,
as well as the predilections and values of previous sages who resided there. In addition, the calligraphy on the
plaques sheds light on the history of calligraphy and helps us grasp the spirit of the times.

The content of academy plaques reveals to us the diverse values of Korean seowon that are in keeping with the
values of the World Heritage List. Other factors to consider are an academy’s architecture, its natural setting, its
educational values and other diverse qualities. The diverse content preserved on plaques reflects the distinctive
cultural identity of each academy in terms of thought, culture and education.

The information revealed in these plaques can be generally divided into three types, those being: building names,
documents, and poems composed on a given theme. The names given to a seowon’s buildings(®3% Kr. dangho) have
symbolic meaning and reflect values prized by the academy. Hence they shed light on the spiritual significance
and character of the academy. At the same time, these name plaques contain information about the artistic status

of the calligraphers who wrote them, as well as the value of these writings in the history of calligraphy. Poems
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composed on a given theme(#zk: Kr. jeveong) describe the scenery and culture of a particular academy, revealing
the nature and characteristics of each seowon. These poems are a valuable resource from which we can learn
how renowned the authors were, their connection to a particular academy (human connections) and what their
literature and thought were like.

Accordingly, scowon plaques have preserved the historical, spiritual and cultural characteristics of academies.
These highly significant resources deserve to be passed on to posterity. Each poem unveils a rich story regarding
who composed it, who wrote its calligraphy, and the circumstances of its being written. When we explore the
numerous stories spun by these plaques and come to appreciate their significance and value, we gain a better
appreciation of Confucian academies as a Korean cultural heritage. Indeed these plaques will not only reveal the
stories of a certain period, they will also revive associated historical personages, as well as daily life and the culture
of academies throughout history, providing an excellent resource for stories. This may even lead to an exploration

of ways to use plaque content as a basis to pass on and utilize academy education.

Names of Buildings (&5%)

Most buildings at Korean academies have their own name plaques. These name plaques are hung above the
front door; hence they are also called pyeonaek(®#). Name plaques play an important role at Korean academies.
Unlike buildings of other religions, Korean academies do not have tall and elaborate buildings; nor do they have

statues, pagodas or paintings. Instead all academy buildings simply have name plaques.

The Significance
and Value of Name Plaques

First of all, building names indicate the usage of each building, as in the examples of the gate-pavilion, lecture
hall, dormitory and shrine. However, these names hold important symbolism beyond their usage.

First, the name of an academy building gives us an understanding into how the location and setting of each
seowon contributed to Confucian learning and the cultivation of self. Outstanding examples are the names of
gate-pavilions. Second, building names provide a key to understanding the scholastic tradition unique to each
academy. Each academy in Korea has its own sages, to which sacrificial ceremonies are offered, and its own
scholastic atmosphere. The spirit of education and learning distinctive to each academy is reflected in the names
of their lecture halls and eastern and western dormitories. The names of gate-pavilions and shrines also reflect the
beliefs and attitudes toward life of the sages enshrined there. In addition, the style of calligraphy on the plaques
sometimes reveals the scholastic atmosphere of the academy. Third, the name of each academy building is not
independent from the others; rather the names of different buildings are part of a system. For example, if the
spirit of education and learning is contained in the name of the lecture hall, the names of the eastern and western
dormitories reveal the direction toward which students must cultivate and practice this spirit. In addition, the
name of the main gate may suggest the mental attitude the academy expects from new students.

The calligraphy on the name plaques can be viewed by generations to come as a symbol reflecting the soul of
the artist. Name plaques are neither big nor elaborate; rather they exude an uncomplicated simplicity against
the beauty of a blank background. Most name plaques were written by great sages or noted calligraphers. Thus
they reflect the spirit and personality of the authors. All academy name plaques are condensed expressions with
spiritual meanings. The aesthetics of the calligraphy on the plaques also contributes to effectively conveying their

meaning,.
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How Building Names Are Related
to the Geographical Locations of Academies

The landscape elements of an academy and its buildings consist of religious and educational elements that
symbolize and convey the worldview and ethics of Confucian scholars. However, the landscape of Confucianism
is neither gigantic nor luxurious unlike that of many other religions. The external form of an academy’s landscape
is less important than what it signifies. The name plaques of academies represent literal symbols which are
saturated with the signified meanings.

The name plaques on gate-pavilions help us understand how the geographical location and landscape
characteristics of academies contribute to Confucian learning. Sosu Seowon in Yeongju does not have a proper
gate-pavilion but its Gyeongnyeomjeong Pavilion functions as one. Upon ascending Gyeongnyeomjeong, there
is a small stream named Jukgye. And behind the rock engraved with the letter “gyeong®),” is Chwihandae®%
%), where a pine grove stands. “Gyeongja®¥) Rock” symbolizes respect for mind while Jukgye and Chwihandae
radiate the life force emitted by water and forests. The pavilion’s name, “Gyeongnyeom (%#),” signifies admiration
for Lianxi® %) Zhou Dunyi(A%#), a Neo-Confucian philosopher of China’s Northern Song. The vitality of
nature around Gyeongnyeomjeong represents the “will to live,” that is, benevolence(®=).

The gate-pavilion of Byeongsan Seowon in Andong is called Mandaeru®##). The term “Mandae®#)” comes
from a poem by the Tang poet Du Fu, which says, “The emerald-green screen should be faced late in the day®
RE®H)” The mountain in front of Byeongsan Seowon stands like a screen running east to west across the
Nakdonggang River. When the sunbeams fall diagonally from the west, the river and Mt. Byeongsan reflect an
enchanting and brilliant emerald-green light. The seven pillars of Mandaeru display the vitality of the mountains
and the river by elegantly framing this emerald-green screen. Nature’s vitality leads one to a harmonious oneness
with nature, what Confucians call the “unity of Heaven and Man.”

Museong Seowon in Jeongeup is where Choe Chi-won is enshrined, who once served as a county magistrate.
The pavilion-gate of Museong Seowon is called Hyeongaru® ). The name comes from an ancient story
about Ziyou(¥#), a disciple of Confucius, who ruled through rites and music when he served as the head of
Wucheng(E#: Kr. Museong). As Museong Seowon is located in a village, private houses stretch out in front of
Hyeongaru. Therefore, the name “Hyeongaru” implies that Museong Seowon’s educational tradition focuses on

practical learning that promotes wise leadership.

Building Names
and Educational Traditions

From the name plaques one can understand an academy’s distinctive educational tradition. Dosan Seowon in
Andong is where Yi Hwang is enshrined. The term “jeongyo##)” from its lecture hall, Jeongyodang, means
“be in charge of education.” Within Jeongyodang, the teacher’s quarters is called Hanjonjae®%%). The name
Hanjonjae refers to the proper attitude of “reverence” that a teacher should have to preserve a pure mind by
guarding against evil. The reason for this reference is that Yi Hwang, who is enshrined at Dosan Seowon,
especially emphasized “reverence” in learning. The name of the eastern dormitory is “Bagyak(##)” and the
western dormitory is “HonguiG:#).” Teachers must cultivate “reverence,” which Yi Hwang regarded as most
important throughout his life, as the principle of education. Students must broaden their learning and act with
propriety(#3X#9®). They must strive to cultivate “reverence” throughout their lifetime with a broad mind and a
resolute will. In this way, the concept of “reverence,” Dosan Seowon’s educational tradition, is also reflected in the

names of the dormitories and the centrally located lecture hall.
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Namgye Seowon in Hamyang is where Jeong Yeo-chang is enshrined. Its gate-pavilion is named Pungyeongnu(@
#1%). The name implies that upon ascending the pavilion one’s mind expands and one becomes immersed in
nature, after which one can naturally sense the way Jeong Yeo-chang recited poetry there. In front of Namgye
Seowon’s eastern and western dormitories are small square ponds, a natural place for a stroll within the academy.
The names of the two elevated verandas from which the ponds can be viewed are Yeongmaeheon @#5#) and
Aeryeonheon®&#). Their names, along with the gate-pavilion Pungyeongnu, symbolize the unity of Heaven
and man.

Piram Seowon in Jangseong is where Kim In-hu is enshrined. The name of its gate-pavilion, Hwagyeonnu(ﬁ%
1), comes from a quote by Cheng Hao®#) who said, “With impartiality to all things one can practice infinite
fairness and adapt to all thingsBAMAR #HKMIERE).” The name Hwagyeonnu was composed and written by Song
Si-yeol (R%2), an eminent Confucian scholar of the 17th century. Piram Seowon’s shrine is named Udongsa(
®), which implies that Haseo Kim In-hu was born in the East by the providence of Heaven R#HREE), The
name was composed using Chinese characters from Zhu X{i’s writings. Its lecture hall’s name, Cheongjeoldang, is
a reference to Kim In-hu’s pure loyalty. Thus, the names of Piram Seowon’s gate-pavilion, shrine and lecture hall

all consistently reflect the loyalty of Kim In-hu.

The Hierarchy
and Semantic Logic behind Building Names

An understanding of the semantic logic used in naming buildings helps us understand the educational spirit
of the academy. Oksan Seowon in Gyeongju is where Yi Eon-jeok is enshrined. Logic is applied not only in
the academy’s layout but also in the meanings of the building names. The name of the academy’s main gate,
Yeongnangmun(m‘¥ﬁ), signifies that excellent students enter the academy to cultivate learning. The name
Yangjinjae(MER) implies that students choose virtue to illuminate Confucian principles. The name Haeripjae(f&
U#) implies that students imbue their minds with reverence and act righteously. The name of the lecture hall,
Guindang(*{:ﬁ), implies that students seek after benevolence with single-minded perseverance. Lastly, the name
of the shrine, Cheinmyo® /), implies that students should emulate the sages who embody benevolence. The
whole process of education(entering into learning, cultivating learning, cultivating mind, seeking benevolence and embodying
benevolence) js condensed into the names of all the buildings at Oksan Seowon.

Dodong Seowon in Dalseong is where Kim Goeng-pil is enshrined. The name of its lecture hall,
Jungjeongdang(fTEE), is borrowed from a passage in Taijitu shuo(AEER; Explanation of the Diagram of the
Supreme Ultimate) that says, “Sages harmonized all things with impartiality(), uprightnessE), benevolence and
righteousness while establishing inner tranquility as the standard for all men.” The name of the lecture hall
symbolizes impartiality and uprightness while the names of the eastern and western dormitories, Geoinjae(&{=#)
and Geouijae(E&H), imply benevolence(™™) and righteousness@®). The name of the main gate, Hwanjumun(®®=
™), which literally means to summon the master of the mind, implies reverence that centers around serenity. The
educational spirit of Dodong Seowon, to attain sagehood by practicing benevolence and righteousness with an
attitude of reverence, is reflected in the buildings’ names.

Donam Seowon in Nonsan is where Kim Jang-saeng is enshrined. The name of its lecture hall, Yangseongdang(®
%) comes from a passage in the Works of Mencius that says, “To preserve one’s own mind and cultivate
one’s original nature is to serve Heaven.” To cultivate original nature refers to benevolence. The names of the
eastern dormitory, GeogyeongjaeE##), and western dormitory, Jeonguijae®#%#), originate from a passage in
Reflections on Things at Hand(E&#: Jinsilu) which says, “To keep one’s inside straight by maintaining reverence

and to keep one’s outside upright by practicing righteousness is benevolence(AER EULA 1) ” Therefore, the
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names Geogyeongjae and Jeonguijae reflect the spirit and means of learning to attain benevolence. Thus, Donam
Seowon’s building names all reflect its educational spirit that Confucian students must attain benevolence(t=) by
cultivating themselves®™) in the spirit of maintaining reverence(&#) and practicing righteousness %),

Academy building names can be more fully understood when one learns the philosophy of education condensed
in Confucian scriptures. The basic principle penetrating the seowon phenomenon is benevolence(t=), which,
in Neo-Confucianism, is understood as the “unity of Heaven and Man(XA&=).” When the human mind
unites with nature as one, it is referred to as the “unity of Heaven and Man.” Mental concentration allows us to
experience oneness from which we gain the pleasure of empathetic feeling. However, it should be noted that, in

Confucianism, oneness is attained not through faith or enlightenment but through learning,

Documents (5230)

Compared to academy name plaques and poems composed on a given theme, the document resources of Korean
academies are markedly different in the factuality of their recorded content. First of all, most document resources
contain the proceedings of specific actions, including the actual process, the circumstances and the content of the
action.

In addition, these documents were displayed on academy buildings by a consensus of the Confucian scholars
belonging to each academy. In other words, who would compose the document and who would write
the calligraphy were decided based on social status and achievement. In this way each document acquired
corresponding meaning and value. Consequently, these documents reflect the history of each academy.
Documents to be hung on academy buildings were chosen after careful screening and deliberation as to whether
they were “documents to be commemorated and passed on.”

These document resources are largely divided into five categories: First, chronological records on the establishment
and renovation of buildings; second, documents concerning eminent figures and memorial ceremonies; third,
documents concerning education; fourth, financial documents; fifth, miscellaneous documents. The current
status of the documents concerning the nine academies is as follows. There are 50 documents related to the
establishment and renovation of buildings or to putting up ridge beams(more than half of all the documents), ‘There are
20 documents related to sages enshrined at academies or to memorial ceremonies, and 20 other documents, such

as academy rules and school regulations, are related to education and learning.

Chronological Records on the Establishment
and Renovation of Buildings

First, these documents include historical records on the establishment and renovation of academies and the
receipt of official royal charters. In addition, these documents explain other details of major projects such as
initial planning, proceedings and securing funds and manpower. These documents need to be examined in

conjunction with the name plaques.

Among the records related to the establishment of academies, two documents are especially noteworthy: the
Namgye seowongi(ﬁfg%ﬁgai Record of Namgye Seowon, 1561) and the Oksan seowongic Record of Oksan Seowon, 1573),
These two documents are important because they were produced in the mid-16th century, in the early years of
Korean academies, and their content accurately conveys the atmosphere surrounding the academy’s establishment
and its significance. Namgye secowongi records the circumstances of how Kang Ik led the establishment of

Namgye Seowon, the size of the academy, the naming of the lecture hall and dormitories and what the academy

17




Aujgof dig 71 E 71538t

SR B o] AT 18 FRad AF FYEe] B& Hou AR
BN A9 AHE 8HSA B ARIE A /1S3 ek =3 AT

KN
A7 2 AF7} FRAGHELM] Ho] 27l BRF AAS wEeE vigeE AE
@A At
SHA EGA e gy IR 16039, BRI I 7o A= A A fA7) HE &
Ao st e GAY BRE 7155t ole 7Rl o] ETIE AES=
A @ FolA A7 7 o2 Aol7| = gl AAl A o] 55A417F HE 1602
ol o}ghge] ol Hofl F9T
Aot AMA olejgt 7] 9] 7

AFAEL] S =31 PA S o2 FHo 2=
FEN7} vk= =reo] U™ AMAIE, of A<l
o] FeE= MwsH, FETE, g, AFESE ol AvEo] k. EARA RliEk
F4 SR 9o Adelgle 1792d8= 16 Hxo] A wfis
Hujo] XAEESIAL A ES X 27 gtk W&ot 24
= BAxUGY AnE w0 Al o|wkprt Atk 22 sj9] 7]o] 2u)7} Tt
FAAALE IR HAX DS A A doltt, T Aol = e HX D] AL 313
ARAS 7123 B QR AT Sy ikstbed e R ETIR 1834, wtsl b B}
AlgE] o] At o] 7]&ol = Aldd 7 o] sHdE o] B = gl e A BZsHd F 4
SEURERe] FAAM LS RS A FHOE ShE A oA FAd] £ B
ofof 3 FxEtAA] AL A GTo Al Batste] AFE 7oA F7el e skl A

Mol B 24 A 71282 Yt

AR Mo g, S BAE 7 EARE B F ATk AL A, shjpdw o
g & SAAQ AP Ao B
S5 WG A 9 B AU JEH I3E HejFs AR vz A€t
ORI, B, §) o)k, QR kK A, S 5o xmolt), tlEA
AR =AM AL Bl 57 o]l A& Ao =AY AY 5%
Aol Aefglet. = ol AmliEe] WAy, g & AT A PR
ofF o] it FEAY A o] me] HlTh AU M-S AR AT
Fedr 154592 7Hg Azt whe A9 ShH oz S otk &4 Ale, HaL 29, AR
Fujare] el -0k AE 5 V1R 4L 715 AoR o]F ofe] A9 Fope] Bl
SR

FAAM L Aaphitle AR AMY SR MR R olg A3 a AAbke] ZAE A

AEN9 MR HE

AFZI20 AR

1

HEd




expected of its for students. Oksan seowongi gives us a detailed record of how the Confucian scholars of
Gyeongju reached a consensus to establish the academy and requested permission from the state. The academy
was built out of admiration for Yi Eon-jeok after the sage passed away. It also records their hopes that the
academy would produce many talented individuals needed by the state.

Meanwhile, Yangseongdang gi(#HE32: Record of Yangseongdang, 1603) gives us a detailed description of the lecture
tradition at Yangseongdang, the lecture hall from which Namgye Seowon was later established, as well as the
situation at that time. Yangseongdang gi is the oldest of Donam Seowon’s existing plaques and records the
circumstances of how Kim Jang-saeng established Yangseongdang in 1602 and began to teach. In fact, this
document predates the establishment of the academy itself but still occupies an important position in the
chronology and developmental history of Donam Seowon. It also gives us a glimpse into the scope of Kim
Jang-saeng’s personal associations. This document also provides minute descriptions of the scenery surrounding

Yangseongdang.

Documents Concerning Eminent Figures
and Memorial Ceremonies

Second, there are documents related to the sages enshrined at academies. They commemorate and praise the
scholarship and diverse literary works of sages. Typical examples are plaques inscribed with writings bestowed by
the king. Dosan secowon chijemun gives us a detailed description of an incident in 1792 in which King Jeongjo
sent Yi Man-su, an official of the royal library, Gyujanggak, to Dosan Seowon and had him offer memorial rites
and administer a special civil service examination. The calligraphy on the plaque was rendered by Yi Man-su by
royal decree. There are two other documents from the same year, 1792.

Museong Seowon is where Choe Chi-won is enshrined. On the wall of one of its buildings hangs a document
plaque titled Museong seowon choeseonsaeng munjip junggangi EMERELEXRETE. 1834). It records the
publishing of the second edition of Gyewon pilgyeong, (H#3E%#. Plowing the Cassia Grove with a Writing Brush,
1834), the collected works of Choe Chi-won. According to this document, Sim Neung-suk(£##) thought it
regrettable that he was unable to read Gyewon pilgyeon when he visited Museong Seowon because the book
had been lost. Sim reported this shameful fact to Seo Yu-gu, the Honam provincial governor, emphasizing that
the academy enshrining Choe Chi-won must preserve the sage’s collected works. The governor then published a
second edition of Gyewon pilgyeong at the provincial office in Jeonju and sent copies to Museong Seowon for

their library. This plaque faithfully recounts this story.

Documents Related to Education

Third, there are documents related to academy education. Academies had diverse characteristics in terms of
education and culture according to their regions and lineages. Each seowon maintained its own educational
and operational style based on its distinctive views on education and philosophy. These are preserved in their
documents. One outstanding case is Dosan Seowon’s Academy Regulations(#: Wongyu) prescribed by Yi
Hwang. These hang on the northern wall of the lecture hall, Jeongyodang. The regulations stipulate many facets
of academy education, including the curriculum and teaching methods. Wongyu became a model for regional
academies in Gyeongsang-do Province.

Sosu Seowon’s Baegundong seowollyeong(BERERS, 1545) was the earliest of academy regulations. It dealt
with: providing meals to students, library usage and the proper etiquette for greeting and sending off visitors

to the shrine. It provided a model for later academy regulations. Namgye Seowon’s regulations, also called
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Wongyu, lists the books students were required to read as well as rules and etiquette for academy life. Dodong
Seowon’s regulations, called Gyumok(®#8), was written in 1917. Although Gyumok is not from the Joseon era,
it contains very detailed school regulations. Resources related to Gyumok also include other old documents.
To be more specific, there are documents related to the content, procedures and proper etiquette for presenting

lessons, seminars and symposiums.

Financial Documents

Fourth, as for documents related to academy finances, there are: land registries, slave registries, records of
donations from government officials or Confucian scholars for the renovation of academies or to subsidize the
boarding of students, and other donation records published in support of various projects and causes. There are
also records related to exemption from taxes and corvee labor for villages affiliated with the academy. Sometimes
certifications of these exemptions were inscribed onto plaques as proof of their status.

The Jeongyo deungseo®&HEE, 1676) of Oksan Seowon in Gyeongju is an inscription of King Sukjong’s decree
not to violate the rights of academy students if the academy’s enshrined sages were also enshrined at Munmyo(X
B3 National Shrine to Confucius), This was so students could focus on their studies. This decree was the result of a
discussion at the royal lecture hall where it was argued that academy students could not concentrate on their
studies because they were forced to pay taxes. Geollyung 15-nyeon iban®B&+A%IE, 1750), a document of Sosu
Seowon in Yeongju, certifies the fact that Sosu Seowon could use members of households(®) under control of
the regional government as their workforce, a document that gives us a glimpse into the financial basis of Sosu

Seowon in the 18th century.

Poems Composed on a Given Theme (Z&5k)

“Poems composed on a given theme,” or “Jeyeong,” are Chinese verses about the natural scenery within the
seowon compound or the areas surrounding the academy.

Generally, jeyeong dealt with: the sages enshrined at the academy, the background of the establishment of
the academy, and the ideals and feelings aroused in academy personnel and visitors upon seeing the natural
surroundings of the academy. Unlike name plaques or other writings, these poems inspired the imagination of
visitors to the academies. The poems also convey the beautiful thoughts of the Joseon era people who revered
nature.

Of the nine academies designated as Korean Historic Sites, some of them display these poems inscribed on
plaques and others don’t. Of the latter, some academies never displayed any such plaques in keeping with their
character. Others originally had such plaques but lost them in the process of renovation and expansion, or else
they were destroyed by fire. However, upon reviewing the content of many literary works by Joseon era scholars,
we can confirm that many poems were written about academy compounds and their natural surroundings. At
present, only three of the nine academies have such poems: Sosu Seowon, Donam Seowon and Piram Seowon.
The content of these poems can be divided into two types: poems about the academy as a whole and poems
about specific buildings or objects within the academy compound. Poems about the whole academy usually
express admiration for the sages enshrined there and feelings of loss that one cannot learn from them anymore.
Poems about specific buildings or objects deal with the deeper meaning of a building or their names, the beauty

of the natural scenery or the true values inherent in the scenery.
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Poems Composed from Rhymes

of Scholars of Preceding Generations (Z385%)

One characteristic of poems composed on a given theme is that when a scholar wrote a poem about an academy,
future scholars composed and left behind another poem by borrowing a thyme from the original poem. Ju
Se-bung and Yi Hwang both left poems about the pavilion named Gyeongnyeomjeong, located in front of
the entrance to Sosu Seowon. Many years later scholars also composed poems about Gyeongnyeomjeong,
reminiscing about past sages, and expressing their feelings about how the surrounding landscape inspired them.
From the roof supports of Gyeongnyeomjeong Pavilion hang many plaques. The name plaque hung on the
outside was written by Yi Hwang. Numerous poems also hang on the inside of Gyeongnyeomjeong’s roof
supports, most of which were composed by borrowing a rhyme from the poems of Ju Se-bung or Yi Hwang. In
his poem, Ju Se-bung expresses the thought that his reverent attitude, the result of cultivating his original nature
while sitting alone at Gyeongnyeomjeong, has a common connection with the colors of the mountains and the
sounds of the water flowing nearby. Yi Hwang then ponders the meaning of Gyeongnyeomjeong by borrowing
a rhyme from Ju Se-bung’s poem.

In the case of Piram Seowon, where Kim In-hu is enshrined, Jeong Cheol @#., 1536~1593) wrote a poem titled
Remembering Kim In-hu(##: Hoehaseo)” jn which he reminisced about Kim In-hu(1510~1560) and praised the
loyalty he demonstrated throughout his lifetime. Kim Sang-heon(&®#&, 1570-1652) also composed a poem in
praise of Kim In-hu’s loyalty, his style of calligraphy and his poems.

Poems on Natural Scenery: Poems
on Eight Scenes or Poems on Ten Scenes

Poems about specific buildings or objects within the academy compound mostly dealt with why a certain
building or location was named that way, the beauty of the natural surroundings and the true values
inherent in them. Some examples in this category are poems about Gyeongnyeomjeong at Sosu Seowon, and
Yangseongdang jeyeong (EMHE sk Poems Composed on Yangseongdang) and Yangseongdang sibyeong(® &1k Ten
Poems on Yangseongdang) atr Donam Seowon. These poems were published as collections of poems about the
scenery around academies. In these poems, the superb landscape around the academy is divided into 8 or 10
distinctive scenes and then each scene is described in verse. Donam Seowon’s Yangseongdang sibyeong is an
outstanding example. These collections of poems need to be actively utilized as a resource to study academies of
the past or as cultural content.

Yangseongdang sibyeong consists of ten poems about scenes in and around Donam Seowon’s lecture hall,
Yangseongdang. Their subjects include: spring rain falling on the herbal garden; fish frolicking near the sand
bank in autumn; a plum branch silhouetted against the moon; the clear wind blowing through the bamboo
forest; lectures and discussions on the Confucian classics; and the view from a forest pavilion of farmers
working.

So far, poems composed on a given theme related to academies have been only briefly surveyed. Although not
all academies have such poems, various literary works confirm that poems of diverse content and character
were composed about academies. These poems not only inspire the literary sensibilities of visitors to academies
but also poetically describe the sentiment of love of nature. Thus, poems composed on a given theme hold
important messages for modern society and contribute to the cultural environment of the 21st century.

Let us review how to utilize these academy-related poems composed on a given theme. First of all, a thorough

investigation and collection of the poems related to the nine academies are required. There may be differences
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between the academies, but collective research is needed in order to clarify the characteristics of each academy’s
poems.

Next, the collected original poems need to be translated into simple, modern Korean. If we add explanations
to these translations and if each academy publishes their own books of poetry, these books will not only attract
public interest but also stimulate the literary sensibilities of academy visitors, enhancing their emotional
experience. If each academy was to select a few poems that best revealed their essence and displayed them in
their academies, visitors could gain beneficial information about the academy and their awareness of Confucian
academy culture would be enhanced.

Continued visits to academies by future scholars, and the writing of more academy-related poems by them
will provide us the opportunity to reconfirm the scholastic identity of the scholars and to reflect on their lives.
Afterward, trying to identify the authors who wrote the poems would be like reading an academy’s visitors’ log.
In doing so, one can also discover diverse patterns of personal associations and exchanges. These poems are a

cherished cultural heritage that cannot be found anywhere else.
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Sosu Seowon

Located in Yeongju, North Gyeongsang Province, Sosu Seowon is
protected as Korean Historic Site No. 55. It was originally established
as Baegundong Seowon in 1543 (the 38th year of King Jungjong’s reign) by
Ju Se-bung, then Punggi-gun magistrate, to enshrine An Hyang(®
#l, 1243~1306) who had introduced Neo-Confucianism to Korea at
the end of the Goryeo era. Through Toegye Yi Hwang’s efforts, the
academy received an official royal charter and a new name, “Sosu,” in
1550, making it Korea’s first chartered academy(sa-aek seowon), Sosu
Seowon became a model of Korean academies with its rituals and
protocols becoming representative of Korean seowon.

Sosu Seowon has six items designated as “Korean national treasures”
and simply “Korean treasures”: The portrait of An Hyang(Korean National
Treasure No. 111); Daeseong jiseon munseon wangjwado, the painting
featuring Confucius and his 72 disciples(Korean Treasure No. 485); the
portrait of Ju Se-bung(Korean Treasure No. 717); Munseonggongmyo, the
shrine dedicated to An Hyang (Korean Treasure No. 1402); and the lecture

hall, Ganghakdang(KO"ean Treasure No. 1403),
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Name plaque inscribed with the name 1550

“Sosu Seowon” in the king’s own SIS0
calligraphy

The king sent this plaque, inscribed with the name "Sosu Seowon"
in his own calligraphy, when Baegundong Seowon was renamed in
1550 and became the first of Korea’s many academies to receive a royal

charter. “Sosu” literally means “to restore learning.”
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Baegundong, emulating 1610
Zhu Xi’s Bailudong 47.0x108.0

This name plaque, inscribed with “Baegundong,” hangs on Sosu
Seowonss lecture hall. “Baegundong” is the transliteration of the Chinese
academy named “Bailudong,” which Ju Se-bung emulated when he
founded Baegundong. The name plaque was inscribed in the spring of
1610, the 2nd year of King Gwanghaegun’s reign.



\ll & 2] 9] H) 1545(1%F 1)
o 1}};’ 455X 146.0
HEEH Bl

W AYE wesAAe SHHolth, FAEY AU BB
W, A9 B AW, A3, A e Ay 5 AN
o Qo B Qow 237 NeEAA 29 FHL
a9 % 5 e Aol

Regulations of Baegundong Seowon 1545
with 500 years of history 4551460

These school regulations were established in 1545 when Ju Se-bung
founded Baegundong Seowon. As Korea’s first private academy
regulations, they stipulate rules for: codes of conduct for students,

seowon management, admission rules, preparation of student rosters,
etc.
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Establishment record
of Baegundong Seowon

Inscribed with the document written in 1550, this plaque records how
Baegundong Seowon (predecessor of Sosu Seowon) was established, how
the financial and material resources were secured and how it received a royal

charter and its new name, “Sosu Seowon,” at the request of Yi Hwang,.

33



1750(49 % 26)
36.8%X61.8

FIHFLT} 45 FE 2FAQ) AR Z 1Y
WalE EAZ BHE o9 FUx
FSkTh 18417] A e A 7nke Ay &

o .
R oA gl Ay gl

=
S
=

N
30 41 30

1750

Document recognizing
36.8X61.8

the academy’s privilege

This plaque, engraved with the document issued in 1750,
prohibited regional offices from commandeering the slave
houscholds that belonged to Sosu Seowon or from using them for

labor.
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Munseonggongmyo,
SBONBIY 52.0%X164.0

a shrine dedicated to An Hyang

Munseonggongmyo is the first building in Korea wherein a former sage
was enshrined and memorial rites were offered, a defining characteristic
of Korean academies. The scholar, An Hyang, who is enshrined at Sosu
Seowon, introduced Neo-Confucianism to Korea. The picture shows the
name plaque of the shrine where An Hyangs spirit tablet is enshrined. The
title “Munseonggong” or “Lord Munseong” was bestowed posthumously
by the king. The calligraphy was executed by the Ming envoy Zhu Zhi-

fan in 1605 when he visited Sosu Seowon. The present name plaque is a

copy of the original.
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The founding record of the shrine 1545
59.5X104.0
of Munseonggong

Inscribed with the record written in 1545 when the academy was still
in its early years, the plaque praises An Hyang, who disseminated Neo-
Confucianism throughout Korea, and it records the full account of the

establishment of the shrine.
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Renovation record of the shrine 1874
48.0%X98.4

This plaque is a record of the restoration of Sosu Seowon, conducted
in 1874, and its significance. It praises the achievements of the former
sages who led the establishment of the academy and includes detailed

records of the background and progress of the academy’s renovation.
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Academy regulations 1545
from the year 1545 32.0%59.7

These academy regulations, hanging in Jirakjae, stipulate basic codes of conduct
for students such as: conduct in the dining hall, usage of the library, and
proper etiquette for greeting and sending off those who come to pay respect to
the sages enshrined there. These regulations became a model for many other

academies that came later
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Student dormitories,

Jikbangjae and Jirakjae

These two buildings provided Sosu Seowon students with
dormitories and study quarters. They were also called Dongjae
(eastern dormitory) and Seojae (Western dormitory), The original
name plaques were written by Toegye Yi Hwang, but due to

the ravages of time, they were remade in 1720.
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Ju Se-bung’s poem hangs 1545

. . 27.0X43.0
in Gyeongnyeomjeong

After Je Se-bung, the Punggi-gun magistrate, established
Baegundong Seowon and constructed Gyeongnyecomjeong
Pavilion, he composed this poem in 1545. The poem expresses well

his intention to seek the Way as a noble man immersed in nature.

Toegye Yi Hwang’s poem hangs 1610

. . 25.0%x43.0
n Gyeongnyeomjeong

Togye Yi Hwang wrote this poem as a sequel to Ju Se-bung’s poem.
The poem reflects his will to understand the order of nature from
observation of its landscape and scenery. The original plaque,

ravaged by time, was replaced in 1610.
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Namgye Seowon

Located in Hamyang, South Gyeongsang Province, Namgye
Seowon is protected as Korean Historic Site No. 499. It was
established in 1552 in the 7th year of King Myeongjong’s reign.
Dedicated to Ildu Jeong Yeo-chang(@ia&, 1450~1504), Namgye
Seowon received its official royal charter in 1566, becoming the
second chartered academy, after Sosu Seowon. It was burned down
during the Jeongyu War, the second phase of the Japanese invasion
(1597-1598), but was reconstructed on its present site in 1612. It has
the typical layout of earlier Korean academies and provided the best

example of edifying the regional populace.
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The name plaque of Namge Seowon, 1566

. 40.0x160.0
presented by the king

As the fourth chartered academy in Korea, Namgye Seowon received
this name plaque from the king in 1566. The plaque is unique in that
it consists of two boards; one reading “Namgye” and the other reading
“Seowon.” The name “Namgye,” the name of the stream flowing in front

of the academy, also holds a profound meaning: “overflowing water.”
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The lecture hall, Myeongseongdang 1600

This name plaque was produced in the mid-16th century in the early years of the
academy. The name “Myeongseong” is based on the phrase from the Doctrine
of the Mean(Zhongyong), which says, “Education is to illuminate the truth. In
truth(scong) there is brightness (myeong), and in brightness there is truth.” In

short, education leads students to the truth.
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Establishment record 1566
of Namgye Seowon 40.0>160.0

Inscribed with the record composed by Gang Ik in 1566,
this plaque describes the full account of the establishment
of Namgye Seowon and the scholarship and virtues of Jeong
Yeo-chang. At the end of the text, it says that Namgye
Seowon was the second academy built in the Joseon

Dynasty and praises those involved in its establishment.



N AR
3 JAKI% 40.0X160.0

29 & Qlek, Fmoldi, o g F V1ol o g Fgel
B 2olx wefdte] Boto ATk E SN £ vz of

714 =7 ¢ vt sho] FQFAAEE o] & At Fict

1841

The gate-pavilion, Pungyeongnu
& P &Y’ & 40.0%x160.0

The name plaque for Namgye Seowon’s gate-pavilion, built
in 1841. The name “pungyeong” is based on an episode from
the Analects of Confucius (Lunyn), and expresses the idea that
the gate-pavilion embodies the spirit of becoming one with

nature.
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Expansion record of Pungyeongnu 1841
p &Y 5 39.5%X154.0

This plaque is inscribed with the record, authored by Jeong Hwan-pil, of
the expansion of Pungyeongnu. According to the record, local Confucian
scholars decided on the expansion in 1840 and it was completed in June the

following year. It also praises the efforts of those who led the project.
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Reconstruction record of Pungyeongnu 1849
38.5%X142.5

Authored by Gi Jeong-jin, a noted scholar of the time, this plaque
records the reconstruction of Pungyeongnu in 1849. It had burnt
down in 1847. It tells of the background of Gi’s writing this record
and the origin of Pungyeongnu. It also praises the great scholarship

and virtues of Jeong Yeo-chang who is enshrined in this academy.
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Student dormitory, Yangjeongijae 16C
y gjeong) 40.0%160.0

This name plaque for Namgye Seowon’s eastern dormitory is inscribed
with “Yangjeong.” This name comes from a phrase in 7he Book of Changes
(I Ching), which says “To raise upright human beings through education
accomplishes the service of the sage.”
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Student dormitory, Bo-injae
40.0%160.0

“Bo-injae” is the name of Namgye Seowon’s western dormitory. The name
is based on a phrase from the Analects of Confucius(Lunyu), which says “The
noble man uses his refinement to meet his friends, and through his friends,
develops his benevolence.” It refers to the scholastic friendship of Jeong Yeo-

chang and Kim Goeng-pil.

The Pavilion-gate, Jundomun, 16C
e adf: 40.0%x160.0
encourages steadfastness

The word “jundo,” from the name of the pavilion-gate, is borrowed from
a phrase in 7he Doctrine of the Mean (Zhongyong), which says, “The noble
man acts according to the Way even if no one acknowledges him.” It refers

to the attitude of noble men to practice the Way in spite of difficulties.
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Oksan Seowon

Located in Gyeongju, North Gyeongsang Province, Oksan Seowon is
protected as Korean Historic Site No. 154. The academy lies within
the perimeter of Yangdong Village which itself was added to the World
Heritage list in 2010. Oksan Seowon was established in 1573 (the 6th year
of King Seonjo’s reign) to enshrine Hoejae Yi Eon-jeok (FE#, 1491~1553),
a noted Neo-Confucian scholar of Korea. Receiving its official royal
charter in 1574, the academy became one of the most noted academies in
the Yeongnam region. Surviving the fires of the Imjin War undamaged,
the academy is well preserved. It served as a center of education and
a hub to assess the public’s opinion of the regional elite. In addition,
the descendants of the sages enshrined at Oksan Seowon accomplished
brilliant achievements in the region.

The natural setting of Jagye-cheon, the mountain stream flowing in front
of the academy, is superb. Also well known is the beauty of Dongnak-
dang, Yi Eon-jeok’s study and mountain villa, located near Oksan
Seowon. Among the academy’s documents and relics, two items have
been designated Korean treasures: a copy of Samguk sagi (The Chronicle of
the Three Kingdoms; Korean Treasure No. 525); and Yi Eon-jeok sugobon ilgwal (+*
Zil FAGAR —4E; Korean Treasure No. 586), the nine-title manuscripts written

by Yi Eon-jeok.
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The name plaque of Oksan Seowon, 1574
. 83.0 X 240.0
bestowed by the king

Oksan Seowon received its name from the king in 1574. The name
“Oksan” was borrowed from Mt. Ja-oksan on which the academy is
located. The calligrapher was Agye Yi San-hae, a master calligrapher

at the time. The current name plaque is a replica of the old one.
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The name plaque of Oksan Seowon 1839

with Chusa Kim Jeong-hi’s calligraphy 79.0>180.0

When Oksan Seowon burned down, its original name plaque was
also destroyed. The current name plaque was given by the king
in 1839. The calligraphy is by Chusa Kim Jeong-hi, an eminent
calligrapher of the time. On the left side of the plaque, the

background story of the new name plaque is recorded.
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The shrine Che-inmyo, 1§C 1
passing on the philosophy of Yi Eon-jeok 92.0x133.0

The name of Oksan Seowonss shrine is “Che-in,” meaning “to embody benevolence,”
a core value of Confucianism as well as the central teaching of Hoejae Yi Eon-jeok
who is enshrined there. The name was composed by No Su-sin and written in 1572
by Han Ho, an eminent calligrapher of the time. On the left side of the name plaque

is a poem by No Su-sin explaining the meaning of “Che-in.”
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1573 establishment record 1573
of Oksan Seowon 44.0x130.0

Inscribed with the record compiled by Heo Yeop in 1573, this plaque
describes the process and purpose of the establishment of Oksan
Seowon. It states that Oksan Seowon was established through the
collaborative efforts of the local Confucian scholars of Gyeongju
and with support of the local governments of Gyeongju-bu and
Gyeongsang-do Province. It also expresses the academy’s hope that
Gyeongju will produce many talented young men needed by the state

in the coming years.
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The name plaque of Gu-indang 16C
by noted calligrapher Han Ho 8401820

The name plaque on Oksan Seowon’s lecture hall reads “Gu-in,”
meaning, “Sages seek after benevolence in their scholarship,” one of
the core teachings of Yi Eon-jeok. The name was composed by No
Su-sin and written in 1572 by Han Ho, an eminent calligrapher
of the time. On the left side of the plaque is a poem by No Su-sin

explaining the meaning of “Gu-in.”
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Plaque inscribed with Zhu Xi’s
62.0%x150.5

Bailudong Academy Regulations

Hanging in Gu-indang, this plaque is inscribed with Zhu Xi’s
Bailudong Academy Regulations. It lists the five moral rulesnoble
men should observe as well as the five educational objectives,
including attainment of the utmost principle. self-cultivation, and
being in harmony with all things in one’s immediate environment.
It also describes the correct attitude students should have toward
learning as a guide for when they should be admonished. It is

unknown when this plaque was hung,
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Hand transcription of a royal decree
62.0%158.0

In 1676, King Sukjong issued a royal decree ordering that academy
students must be exempt from taxes so that they can concentrate on
study. The original plaque inscribed with this decree was destroyed
by fire in 1839 and recreated.
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Books must not leave the seowon Pet
86.0xX138.0

“Books must not leave the academy” is a library management code
for Oksan Seowon stipulated by Toegye Yi Hwang. Originally hung
over the door of Gyeonggak, which housed the royal gift of books,
the plaque also contains an order King Jeongjo issued 300 years later
regarding this code.
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Record of Oksan Jeongsa 1802
66.7X166.0

This plaque is inscribed with the record compiled in 1802 by Nam
Gong-cheol, Gyeongsang-do’s provincial governor at the time,
following a request from Yi Eon-jeok’s descendants. It describes the
life and achievements of Yi Eon-jeok, his receipt of merit awards and

the natural landscape around Oksan Jeongsa.
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Oksan Seowon’s pavilion-gate, 1572
62.0%x114.0 0
Mubyeonnu

This name plaque for Oksan Seowon’s two-story pavilion. Calligraphy
was rendered in 1572 by Han Seok-bong, one of the greatest
calligraphers of the Joseon Dynasty. “Mubyeon” means, “Clear wind
and bright moon are boundless,” a phrase referring to Zhou Dunyi’s
noble character. The phrase also refers to the purity of the natural
landscape around Oksan Seowon.
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Oksan Seowon’s main gate,
49.0x129.0

Yeongnangmun

The name plaque on Oksan Seowon’s main gate includes the term
“yeongnak,” which means, “It is a pleasure when friends visit from
afar” The name was composed by No Su-sin and inscribed in 1572
by Han Ho, an eminent calligrapher of the time. On the left side of
the name plaque is a poem by No Su-sin explaining the meaning of

“yeongnak.”

73



A el

LA A A ke E 2= 24 Abo] U uldl] A A
A Aoz AL S AT B ARES HAA b}
=9 &S AFo] Aoz ourt o7t ok A d =
ol o] BT APEQ IS 7HeE] shfoln, i
il o) o]3 oA A 2AWRE A= Ak 24

L o] g#it, 1501-15700] Rt}



The name Sesimdae engraved on a rock

“Sesimdae,” meaning “stream terrace to wash the mind,” is engraved on a large flat
boulder located between Oksan Seowon and the Oksan Stream flowing in front of the
academy. The calligraphy was rendered by Toegyeo Yi Hwang. Sesimdae is one of the
“four mountains and five stream terraces,” the nine superb natural settings around Oksan
Seowon and Dongnakdang designated by Yi Eon-jeok. During King Jeongjo’s reign,

Sesimdae was the venue for the state civil service examination called gwageo.
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Dosan Seowon

Located in Andong, North Gyeongsang Province, Dosan Seowon is
protected as Korean Historic Site No. 170. It was established to enshrine
Toegye Yi Hwang(®#%, 1501~1570), a noted Neo-Confucian scholar
of Korea. Passing on the legacy of Dosan Seodang, a small school Yi
Hwang established in 1561 to cultivate students, the shrine (Sangdeoksa)
was established in 1572 and Toegye’s spirit tablet was enshrined there. It
received its official royal charter in 1575 and was renamed Dosan Seowon.
It is one of the most prestigious academies of Korea in terms of its
Neo-Confucian educational tradition, development of scholastic
lineage, academy rituals, landscaping and architectural characteristics.
The academy has three Korean treasures: the lecture hall, Jeongyodang
(Korean Treasure No. 210); Sangdeoksa Shrine and Main Gate (Korean Treasure
No. 211); and Dosan seowondo (Korean Treasure No. 522), a 1751 painting
depicting Dosan Seowon as it looked then. In addition, the academy
owns 4,917 volumes under 1,271 titles of various books and ancient

documents, as well as various printing woodblocks and relics.
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The Name Plaque of Dosan Seowon , 1575
bearing the calligraphy of Han Ho and 57:5%206.3
presented by royal order of King Seonjo

This name plaque was bestowed by the state when Dosan Seowon received
an official royal charter in 1575. The name “Dosan” was taken from “Dosan
Seodang,” a small school where Togye Yi Hwang, an eminent Korean Neo-
Confucian scholar, taught before he passed away. The calligraphy was rendered by

Han Ho, an eminent calligrapher of the time, by the royal order of King Seonjo.
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Dosan Seodang, steeped 16C
in Toegye’s philosophy 58.5%27.8

Toegye Yi Hwang, who is enshrined at Dosan Seowon,
established a private school called Dosan Seodang in
1560 when he was 61 years old. While he was teaching
there, he personally inscribed and hung the name plaque.
It is unusual in that the character “san” is rendered as a
pictograph, and the two Chinese characters “seodang”
are written with an upward turn on the right end of the

horizontal strokes which is not common.
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Nongun Jeongsa, the Dosan Seodang 16C
: 58.0%28.0
student dormitory

The name plaque reading “Nongun Jeongsa® hangs on Dosan
Seodang’s student dormitory. “Nongun” means, “to immerse oneself
in learning while befriending nature, away from the temptations of

the secular world.” The calligraphy was personally rendered by Toegye
Yi Hwang in the 1560s.
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Sangdeoksa, the shrine 17C
. 70.0 X 169.5
of Dosan Seowon

This name plaque hangs in Dosan Seowon’s shrine where the
spirit tablets of Confucian sages are enshrined. “Sangdeok” means,
“to honor the scholarship and virtues of Toegye Yi Hwang.” The
calligraphy was rendered by Yi Il-sam in the late 17th century.
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Jcongyodang, the cradle 76.1%208.8

of Toegye’s scholastic lineage

This name plaque hangs on the lecture hall of Dosan Seowon. "Jeon-gyo"
means, "to teach and illuminate the five cardinal principles of morality,” which
is the study of Confucianism. The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Il-sam in the
late 17th century.
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“Samuljam,” an admonishment unknown
1 “ : » 37.0X81.0
against “four things

This plaque in Dosan Seowon’s lecture hall, Jeongyodang, lists the
four things one should watch vigilantly, those being: eyes, ears, speech
and action. Composed by Icheon Jeong I, this plaque was intended to
remind academy students to master their minds and observe proper

codes of conduct.

Zhu Xi’s Bailudong Academy unknown
. 38.0X98.0
Regulations

This plaque, hanging in Jeongyodang, contains Zhu Xi’s Bailudong
Academy Regulations. It lists the five moral rulesnoble men should
observe as well as the academy’s five educational objectives, including
attainment of the utmost principle, self-cultivation, and being in
hormony with all things in one’s immediate environment. It also
prescribes the correct attitude toward learning for students to emulate.

It is unknown when this plaque was hung
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Toegye’s academy regulations, unknown
a model for later seowon 55.5%145.0

The regulations for the Isan Seowon were drawn up by Toegye
Yi Hwang in 1559. It provided a model for other seowon in the
Yeongnam region at the time and thereafter. They stipulate the
academic curriculum, study methods, book management, punishment

and reward, and faculty selection.
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King Jeongjo’s royal decree, Jeon-gyo
& J éjJ Y ] &y 56.0x82.0

In March 1792, King Jeongjo sent Yi Man-su, a Ist junior rank official of
the royal library called Gyujanggak, to Dosan Seowon and had him offer
memorial rites as well as administer a special civil service examination.
On the day of the examination, this royal decree “Jeongyo” was inscribed

on a plaque and hung inside Jeongyodang.
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The eastern dormitory, Bagyagiae 17¢
y &Yag) 53.5X141.5

The name plaque for Dosan Seowon’s eastern dormitory reads
“Bagyagjae.” The term “bagyag” is from the Analects of Confucius
which says, “Broaden your learning but guard your actions with
propriety and rituals.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Il-sam at the
end of the 17th century.

The western dormitory, Honguijae 17¢
58.0 % 148.0

The name plaque for Dosan Seowon’s western dormitory reads
“Honguijae.” The term “hongui” is from the Analects of Confucius
which emphasizes, “Noble scholars cannot practice benevolence if they
do not broaden their minds and become resolute in their will.” The

calligraphy was rendered by Yi Il-sam in the late 17th century.
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Piram Seowon

Located in Andong, North Gyeongsang Province, Byeongsan Seowon
is protected as Korean Historic Site No. 260. The academy lies within
the perimeter of Hahoe Village which itself was added to the World
Heritage list in 2010. The academy was originally named Pungak
Seodang and was established in 1563(the 18th year of King Myeongjong’s
reign). Pungak Seodang was relocated to its current location in 1572,
and its Jondeoksa Shrine was established in 1613 to enshrine Seo-ae
Ryu Seong-nyong#m#, 1542~1607) in honor of his scholarship and
virtues. In 1863, it received its official royal charter and the name
Byeongsan.

The academy is located on a picturesque site with the Nakdong
River flowing in front of it and Mt. Byeongsan situated across the
river. Indeed Byeongsan Seowon is an architectural gem of Korean

academies which sought the unity of heaven and man.
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The name plaque 1662
i 54.0X148.0
of Piram Seowon,

decorated with traditional paintwork

The name plaque for Byeongsan Seowon’s lecture hall. “Ipgyo”
means “to correctly establish the five moral rules, the teachings of
the sages.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho, an excellent
calligrapher and a disciple of Seo-ac Ryu Seong-nyong.
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Udongsa, unknown
wherein Kim In-hu is enshrined 47.0x111.0

The name plaque for the shrine of Piram Seowon. The meaning
of the word “Udong” can be found in Kim In-hu’s memorial
stele, which says “Haseo Kim In-hu was born in the East by the

providential help of heaven.” The name was composed using
Chinese characters in Zhu Xi’s writings.
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Cheongjeoldang, 54.0%146.0
0X146.

honoring Haseo’s loyalty

The name plaque for the lecture hall at Piram Seowon. “Cheongjeol
” refers to the scholarship and deep loyalty of Kim In-hu who
withdrew from office when King Injong unexpectedly passed away
at a young age. He then severed all ties with the secular world. The
calligraphy was rendered by Song Jun-gil in the late 17th century.
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King Sukjong’s decree
62.0x101.0

to promote learning
and cultivate talented individuals

The name plaque for Byeongsan Seowon’s lecture hall. “Ipgyo” means
“to correctly establish the five moral rules, the teachings of the sages.”
The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho, an excellent calligrapher and a
disciple of Seo-ae Ryu Seong-nyong,.
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Bailudong Academy Regulations,

with Kim In-hu’s poem

1710
70.0%x210.0

The plaque on which Zhu Xi’s Bailudong Academy Regulations are
inscribed. Kim In-hu taught students based on Bailudong Academy
Regulations. A poem by Kim In-hu is the last text on the plaque, a poem
he composed after reading Bailudong Academy Regulations. The plaque
was hung in 1710.
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King Jeongjo’s praise of Kim In-hu [1]:
Munmyo jongsa bangyomun

1796
41.0x100.0

After King Jeongjo had Kim In-hu, to whom Piram Seowon was
dedicated, enshrined in the Munmyo (Shrine for Confucius), the
king presented this document in 1796, highly praising Kim In-hu’s
achievements and scholarship by calling him the “teacher of a hundred
generations.” The document inscribed on this plaque was composed

by Ku Sang(1730-?), a 2nd junior rank official of the Yemungwan that

was in charge of drawing up the king’s orders and other documents.
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King Jeongjo’s praise of Kim In-hu [2]: 1796
Munmyo jongsa gyoseo and Munmyo 39.0x110.0
seungbae chungmun , combined as one

‘This is the first royal edict King Jeongjo issued after he had Kim In-
hu enshrined in the Munmyo so that memorial rites could be offered
to him. The king praises Kim In-hu as the “Confucius of the Honam
region” and then mentions the close relationship he enjoyed with Kim

In-hu as sovereign and subject.
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by King Injong
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wiak sk ) Azsh e yErzo s Ae Alolgy s established with money from King Jeongjo’s own private funds after
She YT o DM T AR TS o) WETE ATl Kim In-hu was enshrined in the Shrine for ConfuciusMunmyo), The

calligraphy on the name plaque of the building was rendered by King
Jeongjo himself.
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Hwagyeonnu,
&y 46.0x88.0

Piram Seowon’s gatc—pavi]ion

The name plaque of Hwagyeonnu, the gate-pavilion of Piram Seowon.
“Hwagyeon” is borrowed from a phrase by Cheng Hao. It describes a noble
man’s learning as “vast and just.” Song Si-yeol composed and wrote the

calligraphy on the plaque.
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1760
46.0%136.0

Reconstruction record
of Hwagyeonnu

Compiled by Kim Si-chan in 1760, the document inscribed on this plaque
records the reconstruction of Hwagyeonnu, Piram Seowon’s gate-pavilion.
It also praises Haseo Kim In-hu’s scholarship. “Hwagyeon” refers to a noble
man’s attitude toward learning, characterized by impartiality to all things. Song
Si-yeol, who admired this characteristic of Kim In-hu, named the gate-pavilion

with this in mind.
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1752

Ridge beam scroll penned at the reconstruction
42.0%93.0

of Hwagyeonnu

Hwagyeonnu, Piram Seowon’s gate-pavilion, burned down in 1744.
The document inscribed on this plaque is the “ridge beam scroll” or
“sangnyangmun,” penned in 1752 when its reconstruction was completed. In
describing the process of its reconstruction, its author, Song Myeong-heum,

also praised Haseo’s scholarship and virtues, as well as his loyalty.
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A poem in memory of Haseo 18C
31.0x79.5

This poem was written by Kim Chang-heup and borrows a rhyme from his
great grandfather’s poem. In the poem, he cherishes the memory of Haseo Kim

In-hu and praises his great scholarship, his conduct in life and his fidelity to his

principles.
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A poem about Kim In-hu 18C
LA : _ y
with Piram Seowon in the title 30.0x51.0

Je piram seowon is a poem composed by Seokju Kwon Pil(1569~1612),
In this poem Kwon Pil remembers and admires the character, scholarship
and virtues of Kim In-hu. At the end of the poem is a passage saying,
"This has been newly engraved as the old version is lost." This tells us the

plaque was re-engraved and hung at a later time.

Upon reading the collected works 16C
of Haseo Kim In-hu 22.0%40.0

In this work, Go Gyeong-myeong(1533-1592) expresses admiration for
Kim In-hu’s great scholarship, respect for his conduct in life, worries
about the severance of "the Way" after his death, and the author’s feelings

upon reading his works.
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Mandaeru, 16C

a symbol of Byeongsan Seowon 240450

Hoehaseo is a poem composed by Songgang Jeong Cheol(1536-1593)
in memory of Haseo Kim In-hu(1510-1560), The plaque the poem is
written on has no title, but according to the collected works of Jeong

Cheol, it is tiled Hoehaseo. The poem reveals Jeong Cheol’'s admiration
of Kim In-hu.
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Dodong Seowon

Located in Dalseong, Daegu Metropolitan City, Dodong Seowon is
protected as Korean Historic Site No. 488. The academy is dedicated
to Hanhwondang Kim Goeng-pil &%, 1454~1504), 3 noted scholar of
the Joseon era. Established in 1568(the 1st year of King Seonjo's reign) yunder
the name Ssangye Seowon, the academy was relocated to its current
location in 1604, and received its official royal charter in 1607, along
with the name Dodong Seowon. In terms of its overall architectural
composition and layout connecting its gate-pavilion, lecture hall and
shrine, Dodong Seowon is typical of Korean seowons.

The academy is surrounded by a beautiful natural setting, and its
architecture and enclosing walls are designated Korean Treasure No.

350.
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Neo-Confucianism comes East, 1607
40.0x160.0
Dodong Seowon

This name plaque was bestowed by the king in 1607 when the academy
received its official royal charter. The name “Dodong” implies that the
scholarship of Kim Goeng-pil makes him the patriarch of the Eastern
“learning of the Way.” The calligraphy was rendered by Bae Dae-yu.
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early 17C

The name plaque of Dodong Seowon,
40.0%X160.0

extracted from Toegye’s writings

This name plaque hangs on the facade of Dodong Seowon’s lecture hall. Jeong
Gu, a disciple of Toegye Yi Hwang, examined the Chinese characters in Toegye’s
writings and used them to compose the name of the academy. Jeong Gu lamented
the fact that Yi Hwang had not been able to establish an academy for Kim Goeng-
pil. That motivated him to produce the academy’s name plaque from Toegye Yi

Hwang’s writings.
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17C

The name plaque of the lecture hall,
40.0x160.0

Jungjeongdang

The name plaque of Dodong Seowon’s lecture hall, Jungjeongdang.
“Jungjeong” means “to practice uprightness that does not deviate
even in the slightest way.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi

Gwan-jing in the late 17th century.



AT A s} 1607(4240) The reason for Dodong Seowon’s 1607

e I T A
s Bl B AT T 98.0%250.0 two name plaques 98.0x250.0
1607 3@4% 40 == Y-S AY3E AR, 1543-1620 The document inscribed on this plaque was compiled in 1607 by Jeong Gu,
o 2= /\],o_}'] 33} AF7} o] =Tk, 1501~15709) a leader in the effort to establish Dodong Seowon. In the text, he describes

why the two name plaques came to be displayed together: one plaque
bestowed by the king and the other produced by Jeong Gu after examining
Yi Hwang’s letters. He also expressed his wish that all people who see these

- plaques may come to admire the scholarship and virtues of Kim Goeng-pil;
oloj7}71& dAdt= W-goltt also that the teaching of “the Way in the East” lasts for many generations.
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Zhu Xi’s Bailudong Academy Regulations bilsiow
39.0%120.0

This plaque hangs in Dodong Seowon’s Jungjeongdang. It records Zhu
Xi’s Bailudong Academy Regulations and the “ten admonishments for
scholars.” It also lists the five moral rules noble men should observe as
well as the five educational objectives, including attainment of the utmost
principle, self-cultivation, and how to harmonize with all things in one’s
immediate environment. By adding the ten admonishments for scholars,

it presents a code of conduct for students to follow in their studies and in

daily life.



0l {#HEk 164)7] Plaque engraving of a royal decree 16C

40.0%x160.0 40.0%x160.0
16763%5%F 2 AANA XY B 0] Eojz] MH|So0] & In 1676, King Sukjong issued a royal decree ordering that
A3t 5= 9ol =o)7) Qa} LEMiEe] Exo| £aF o academy students must not abuse their privileges to avoid taxes,

corvee duties and the military draft. This decree was engraved on

a plaque and hung at that time.
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Detailed regulations of Dodong Seowon 1918
52.0%210.0

This plaque lists Dodong Seowon’s academic regulations, compiled
by Jeong Gu, a leader in the effort to establish the academy. It lists all
the regulations involved in operating the academy. Compared to other
academies, these regulations are more detailed; a unique characteristic of

Dodong Seowon. The current name plaque was reproduced in 1918.



=5 164171 Hwanjumun and its earthen wall, 16C
: 10.0%160.0 both designated Korean treasures 1001600

g = [ &

TEAYY] AsE7re] ‘FAYHLEE 07 Soljrl=s RO This is the name plaque for the inner gate, Hwanjumun, that leads
Helom ‘SNt 7] EEE, 1454-15049] A] o] A] to Dodong Seowon’s study compound, Jungjeongdang. The name
ola g Ao W mhe-o] Zol[<fol k]S Bl A ol Hwanju” comes from a p(zem .by Kim Goeng-pil, which says, tc:

call forth the master of one’s mind (self) so as to keep one awake.
1A shol = A q oo oo

S R eulelth. b AL ARl PRER = The earthen wall attached to it is an attractive structure and both
7 ggel B A3508. 2 A= A the inner gate and the wall have been designated Korean Treasure

No 350.
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Suwollu, established in 1849 1849/1974
40.0%160.0

The gate-pavilion called Suwollu was constructed in 1849. “Suwolk
R” comes from a poem by Zhu Xi and refers to a state of mind that is
pure and uncontaminated by selfish desires, like the moon reflected in

the water. It has been renovated and rebuilt several times. The current
structure was built in 1974.



—{E%E—%L%LE— SR Hrey's ;24095155235) Ridge beam scroll of Suwollu ;2409X 1360

TAFo AY FA| o] Ax I 1792-18727} 2|-& Abef Penned by Yi Won-jo when Suwollu was established in 1849, the ridge
2oz A gt 713 et AR v = AL beam scroll(sangnyangmun) describes the progress of its construction and
vro] Wo wAbgw vty e AXE FASEA, F the superb scenery seen from Suwollu. It also expresses the wish that
2o 2T nle S AL J]YEls el 9 the academy’s teachings and traditions will flourish and be passed
91t} down for many generations.

125



126



127



AR L2

B okgol 913k 2010 AAEdFALC 2 A

S Aol 23hE o vk A A #2605 0]t} W

AL Qe By 1563 d8E18 e FokAwS 1572\ & _'4

A2 omt‘z} 31613 Aol lE FAd I, 1542~16079] BHE-
& FRa] S EEYARE AYsk) 18631 WAY
)=

Byeongsan Seowon

Located in Andong, North Gyeongsang Province, Byeongsan Seowon
is protected as Korean Historic Site No. 260. The academy lies within
the perimeter of Hahoe Village which itself was added to the World
Heritage list in 2010. The academy was originally named Pungak
Seodang and was established in 1563(the 18th year of King Myeongjong’s
reign). Pungak Seodang was relocated to its current location in 1572,
and its Jondeoksa Shrine was established in 1613 to enshrine Seo-ae
Ryu Seong-nyong®##, 1542~1607) in honor of his scholarship and
virtues. In 1863, it received its official royal charter and the name
Byeongsan.

The academy is located on a picturesque site with the Nakdong
River flowing in front of it and Mt. Byeongsan situated across the
river. Indeed Byeongsan Seowon is an architectural gem of Korean

academies which sought the unity of heaven and man.
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The name plaque 1863
of Byeongsan Seowon, 78.3%226.0
bestowed by the king

This plaque was inscribed in 1863 when the academy received
the name “Byeongsan” from the king. “Byeongsan” or “Screen
Mountain” is the name of the mountain in front of the academy,

which some liken to a screen. The calligrapher is unknown.
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Jondeoksa, unknown

. . . X
a shrine to offer memorial rites 82.0x171.0
to Seo-ae Ryu Seong-nyong
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This name plaque is for the shrine located at Byeongsan Seowon,
established in 1614. “Jondeok” means “to admire the scholarship
and virtues of Seo-aec Ryu Seong-nyong.” The “taegeuk” design
(“great polarity” or “yin and yang”) is drawn on the three gates at
the entrance of the shrine, and the “eight trigrams ” are drawn on

the gates’ pillars, which is very unusual.
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early 17C

Ipgyodang, 80.5%177.5

to establish the five moral rules

The name plaque for Byeongsan Seowon’s lecture hall. “Ipgyo”
means “to correctly establish the five moral rules, the teachings of
the sages.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho, an excellent
calligrapher and a disciple of Seo-ae Ryu Seong-nyong.
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1630

Documenting the relocation
50.0x132.0

of Seo-ae’s spirit tablet

Seo-ae Ryu Seong-nyongs spirit tablet was originally enshrined here
in 1614 and moved to Yeogang Seowon in 1620. Then in 1629, it
was relocated back to Byeongsan Seowon’s Jondeoksa Shrine. The
document inscribed on this plaque was compiled by Yi Jun in 1630
to give a full account of the return of the spirit tablet.
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The eastern dormitory, early 17C
o 40.0%91.0
Dongjikjae

The name plaque of Byeongsan Seowon’s eastern dormitory. The
term “Dongjik” comes from a phrase by Zhu Dunyi, which says, “to
cultivate the mind through reverence and attain a state without selfish

desires.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho.



% 6’1 XH 17A7] The western dormitory, early 17C

f o 38.0X87.0 Jeongheojac 38.0X87.0
A F gheoj

WA Y A JA oz ASHE = F=o] MHAEH, 1017~ The name plaque of Byeongsan Seowon’s western dormitory. The
10739] EAJiEHS] “8Alo] 9o 7 Q3 uj= ¥ H|3 &3 term “Jeongheo” comes from a phrase by Zhu Dunyi, which says,
o m= ZA dohE A4 o]_gz‘s Aoz Aole] ¥ “When the mind is free from desires, it is empty in stillness and
Ae A e Zmoks B3 Al&o] Q= AR Yolrk= A straight in movement.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho.

oJZFaL BISITE. SH = AT o] ZFHISS3-27} Al Fh.
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early 17C

Mandaeru,
78.5%202.0

a symbol of Byeongsan Seowon

The name plaque for Mandaeru, a building that epitomizes the architecture
and natural beauty of Byeongsan Seowon. The calligraphy was rendered by
Yi Ho. The term “Mandae” comes from a poem by the Tang poet Du Fu,
which says, “The emerald-green screen should be faced late in the day.” The
aesthetic beauty of nature is apparent when one stands on the upper floor of

Mandaeru and looks out at the Nakdonggang River and Mt. Byeongsan.
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Bongnyemun, carly 17C

. 67.0%x183.0
Byeongsan Seowon’s main gate

The name plaque for Byeongsan Seowon’s main gate, Bongnyemun. The name
“Bongnye” comes from a phrase in the Analects of Confucius, which says, “One
should overcome selfish desires and live in accordance with propriety and

rites.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho in the early 17th century.
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Museong Seowon

Located in Jeongeup, North Jeolla Province, Museong Seowon is
protected as Korean Historic Site No. 166. The academy began as
Taesan Seowon, established to enshrine Choe Chi-won and other
sages. In 1696, it received its official royal charter and the name
Museong. Located on a site typical for Korean academies, mountains
behind it and a river in front, the academy consists of a village and its
neighboring houses. Museong Seowon was established by a regional
government official for the purpose of promoting learning. The

academy edified the regional populace with rites and music.
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1696

The original name plaque
54.0%201.0

of Museong Seowon,

bestowed by the king

This is the name plaque Museong Seowon received when it was
chartered in 1696. “Museong” was the old name for Tae-in-hyeon
and also the name of the township which Ziyou, a disciple of

Confucius, ruled with rites and music
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20C
50.0%x190.0

Taesansa,
originally a shrine for the living

The name plaque of Taesansa Shrine. Taesansa was originally a
saengsadang, a shrine for the living, and was established by the
residents of Taesan-hyeon to praise the eminent Confucian scholar
Choi Chi-won for his good governance after he finished serving as
Taesan-hyeon’s magistrate. Taesansa was moved to its current site in

1483 and later became Museong Seowon.




F==27] b E AR 1828(= 28) Lecture hall reconstruction record 1828
38.5X90.0 38.5X90.0
o] AR 2T o] 1828Wdwx 28 =2=3 ujj o] 7] The document inscribed on this plaque was compiled in 1828 when
Aol o] TEEo] 3L x| A7 HF ek Museong Seowon was rebuilt after it burned down. The document
92 A5t ST s AFB=9] Hrro] 2 records the fact that descendants of sages enshrined there collaborated

and that the Tae-in-hyeon magistrate actively supported its
reconstruction. It also includes the names of those who participated

in the reconstruction.
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A plaque documenting the second 1833
edition of the collected works 38.0x94.0
of Choe Chi-won

Choe Chi-won is the most eminent scholar enshrined at Museong
Seowon. As a scholar and great writer of the late Silla era, he
published a collection of his works titled Gyewon pilgyeong. In
1833, Seo Yu-gu, the Honam provincial governor, published the
second edition of his book at the provincial office in Jeonju and
sent copies to Museong Seowon for their library. This plaque

faithfully recounts this story.
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A record of the re-allocation 1882
of slaves to Museong Seowon 33.5%96.5

Museong Seowon was provided with 30 slaves from the state
when it received its royal charter. In 1868, however, the academy
was shut down by royal edict. In 1882, the Tae-in-hyeon
magistrate, also serving as the president of Museong Seowon,
restored the slave work force. The record inscribed on this plaque
describes that entire incident as well as the names of people who

participated in its restoration.




FEX X717 1884(31F 21) Document commemorating the publication 1884

Ik R R T A 300800 of the Records of Museong Seowon 30.0%80.0

18841 3% 210f A gle] I3

In 1884, Museong Seowon published the Records of Museong Seowon
HA T T A A s

(Museong seowonji) by collecting and compiling relevant historical

o] WS Ao Ao documents. The document inscribed on this plaque gives a full account

J) gk e] Zolt} of its publication as well as the names of participants. The document was
o v = .

authored by the Jeongeup-hyeon magistrate who also wrote the epilogue
for Museong seowonji.
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A XH HEfs s 19417] & Ganggsujae, where the lecture ritual 19C

° 26.0%63.0 26.0%63.0

“Gangseumnye” was performed

The name plaque for Museong Seowon’s lecture hall, Gangsujae.
Gangsujae was built in the early 18th century in connection with
a lecture ritual called “Gangseumnye.” The present building was

renovated in 1884 when the current name plaque was hung.
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The pavilion-gate, Hyeongaru 1904
p & Y & 50.0%x149.0

This name plaque on Museong Seowon’s pavilion-gate, Hyeongaru,
was hung in 1904. The name “Hyeonga” comes from an incident in
the life of Ziyou, a disciple of Confucius. According to legend, when
Ziyou served as the head of Wucheng in the State of Lu, he ruled
so well with rites and music that the “sound of stringed instruments

and singing” was heard.




1891 (31 28)
32.0x122.0
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1891
32.0x122.0

Establishment record
of Museong Seowon’s Hyeongaru

Written in 1891 when Hyeongaru, Museong Seowon’s gate-pavilion, was built,
the document inscribed on this plaque gives a full account of the establishment

of Museong Seowon and an incident in Ziyou’s life in which “the sound of

stringed instruments and singing” was heard. It also lists the Confucian scholars

enshrined in the academy and details the support and participation of many
towns and counties in Jeolla-do Province. The document was written by Kim

Gyu-hong, governor of Jeolla-do Province and president of Museong Seowon.
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Donam Seowon

Located in Nonsan, South Chungcheong Province, Donam
Seowon is protected as Korean Historic Site No. 383. The academy
was established in 1634 (the 12th year of King Injo’s reign) to honor the
scholarship of Sagye Kim Jang-saeng(&R%, 1548~1631), [t received its
official royal charter in 1659.

The academy was relocated to its present location in 1881 due to
flooding at its previous location. Its lecture hall, Eungdodang, was
designated Korean Treasure No. 1569 for its architectural value which
strictly adhered to ancient architectural standards. Kim Jang-saeng, the
main sage enshrined at Donam Seowon, Kim Jip and Kim Jang-saeng’s
disciples, Song Jun-gil and Song Si-yeol, all contributed to integrating
the ritual studies of the Joseon Dynasty, making Donam Seowon a

center of ritual studies.
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The name plaque of Donam Seowon, 1660
bestowed by the king in 1660 85.0x230.0

This is the original name plaque Donam Seowon received in 1660 when it
received its official royal charter. “Donam” is the name of a rock at the site
where the academy was originally located. The calligrapher was Song Si-yeol.
The plaque hangs at the academy’s main gate, Ipdeongmun.
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Donam Seowon’s shrine, modern
Sungnyesa 65.0%200.0

The name plaque for Donam Seowon’s shrine. “Sungnye”
means “to revere rites,” which is how noble men cultivate virtues
and consummate learning. It is also called Yugyeongsa. The

calligrapher and the year the plaque was hung are unknown.
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Jeonghoedang, a name reflecting early 17C
.. 44,0x107.0
the origin of Donam Seowon

When Gim Gye-hui, the father of Kim Jang-saeng, retreated to his
hometown of Yeonsan-hyeon, he taught at Jeonghoedang. “Jeonghoe”
means “to gather in serenity.” Thus, Jeonghoedang became the
foundation to later establish Donam Seowon. The calligraphy was
rendered by Kim Ye-san when he was eight years old. Even at this

tender age, he was known as an excellent calligrapher in the region.
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Yangseongdang, 1602
one of two lecture halls 55.0x150.0

This is the name plaque for Donam Seowon’s current lecture
hall. The calligraphy was rendered by Kim Jang-saeng in 1602.
“Yangscong” means “to cultivate one’s nature by earnest effort for a

long time.” It is an admonishment not to become lazy, even in one’s
later years.
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Records related to Yangseongdang 1603

. 45.0%100.0
where Kim Jang-saeng taught

The name plaque of Byeongsan Seowon’s eastern dormitory. The
term “Dongjik” comes from a phrase by Zhu Dunyi, which says, “to
cultivate the mind through reverence and attain a state without selfish

desires.” The calligraphy was rendered by Yi Ho.
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poems about Yangseongdang

When Kim Jang-saeng began to teach at Yangseongdang, after it
was built in 1602, he associated with many eminent figures of the
time while composing poems. This plaque lists original poems
recited by 19 eminent people who lived at that time. This gives
us a glimpse into the personal associations Kim Jang-saeng made

while at Yangseongdang.
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Poems on the exquisite scenery 17¢C
around Yangseongdang Hall 45.0%150.0

Written by Kim Jang-saeng, this poem describes the exquisite
scenery around Yangseongdang. The plaque also contains poems
composed by eminent figures like Yi Dan-ha, Hwang Hyeokand
Jang Yu.
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A plaque inscribed with poems 1881
: Ry 40.0%127.0
about A-hanjeong Pavilion

The plaque contains a collection of poems about A-hanjeong, the
predecessor of Yangseongdang. The poems were composed by Kim
Guk-gwang, Sin Suk-ju, Song Ik-pil and Kim Eun-hwi. At the end,
Choe Chang-hwan wrote a brief history of A-hanjeong and how the

poems were passed down.
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Lecture hall, Eungdodang’ unknown
a Korean treasure 80.0x185.0

The name plaque of Donam Seowon’s lecture hall. “Eungdo” means
“to cultivate virtues and accomplish learning.” This lecture hall was the
learning center of Donam Seowon. Eungdodang is considered historically
valuable as it was built by faithfully following ancient building standards.
Thus, it was designated Korean Treasure No. 1569. The calligrapher and

the year the plaque was hung are unknown.
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